Renal transplantation in amyloidosis and MIDD

Lauren Stern¹, Andrea Havasi¹

¹Renal Section, Boston University School of Medicine, 650 Albany Str, 5th floor, Boston, MA, 02118

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. AL amyloidosis
 - 3.1. Kidney transplantation in AL amyloidosis
- 4. Monoclonal immunoglobulin deposition diseases
 - 4.1. Renal transplantation on monoclonal immunoglobulin deposition diseases
- 5. AA amyloidosis
 - 5.1. Kidney Transplantation in AA amyloidosis
- 6. Hereditary amyloidosis
 - 6.1. Hereditary transthyretin
 - 6.2. Fibrinogen A alpha amyloidosis
 - 6.3. Lysozyme amyloidosis
 - 6.4. Apo A1 amyloidosis
 - 6.5. Apo A2 amyloidosis
 - 6.6. Apo AIV amyloidosis
 - 6.7. Gelsolin amyloidosis
- 7. Acknowledgement
- 8. References

1. ABSTRACT

Amyloidosis and monoclonal immunoglobulin deposition disease, though rare entities, can wreak havoc on the architecture and functioning of the kidneys. These diseases have a predilection to cause severe renal dysfunction leading to end stage renal disease (ESRD). In recent years, the available treatments for these diseases have expanded and afflicted patients are living longer, but with advanced kidney disease. Because of the complex nature of the pathophysiology and treatment of these diseases, it can be very challenging for a clinician to determine whether or not it is appropriate to refer an affected individual for kidney transplantation.

2. INTRODUCTION

Amyloidosis is the clinical syndrome that occurs when a protein abnormally folds, aggregates and deposits into various tissues. It is usually a systemic disease that can often involve the heart, kidneys, GI tract, liver, peripheral nervous system, skin, joints, thyroid and soft tissues. There are a number of potentially amyloidogenic proteins including light chains, heavy chains, serum amyloid A (SAA), beta-2microglobulin, lysozyme, fibrinogen A-alpha, gelsolin, transthyretin, cystatin C and various apolipoproteins (Table 1) (1). Amyloidogenic proteins have a distinct pattern of organ damage, with kidney involvement being very common among certain types, often resulting in end stage renal disease (ESRD).

The first kidney transplant performed in a patient with systemic AL amyloidosis and ESRD took place in 1967 and the allograft only functioned for twelve days. At that time there were few treatments available for amyloidosis and very few effective options for immunosuppression (2). Kidney transplantation has now become a more viable therapy for ESRD secondary to amyloidosis or in the modern era of successful treatment of plasma cell dyscrasias.

Precursor Protein	Amyloid Protein	Organ Involvement	
Monoclonal Ig light chain	AL	Kidney, heart, liver, gastrointestinal tract, nervous system, soft tissue, spleen, thyroid, adrenal gland, etc.	
Monoclonal Ig heavy chain	АН	Extremely rare: kidney involvement predominates in the small number of reported cases	
Serum amyloid A (SAA)	AA	Kidney, liver, gastrointestinal tract, spleen, autonomic nervous system, thyroid	
Transthyretin (mutant form)	ATTR	Peripheral nervous system, heart, vitreous opacities; kidney involvement is rare	
Fibrinogen Aα chain	AFib	Kidney, liver, spleen; hypertension is common; kidney involvement is predominantly glomerular	
Apolipoprotein Al	AApoAI	Kidney (with predominantly medullary deposition), liver, heart, skin, larynx	
Apolipoprotein All	AApoAll	Kidney	
Lyzozyme	ALys	Kidney, liver, gastrointestinal tract, spleen, lymph nodes, lung, thyroid, salivary glands	
Gelsolin	AGel	Cranial nerves, lattice corneal dystrophy	
Cystatin C	ACys	Cerebral vessels	
Transthyretin (wild type)	ATTR	Heart, soft tissue	
B2-Microglobulin	Αβ2Μ	Osteoarticular tissue; less common sites are	
	Monoclonal Ig light chain Monoclonal Ig heavy chain Serum amyloid A (SAA) Transthyretin (mutant form) Fibrinogen Aα chain Apolipoprotein Al Apolipoprotein All Lyzozyme Gelsolin Cystatin C	Monoclonal Ig light chainALMonoclonal Ig heavy chainAHSerum amyloid A (SAA)AATransthyretin (mutant form)ATTRFibrinogen Aα chainAFibApolipoprotein AIAApoAILyzozymeALysGelsolinAGeICystatin CATTR	

Table 1.	Types	of systemic	amyloidosis
----------	-------	-------------	-------------

3. AL AMYLOIDOSIS

AL amyloidosis is primarily a bone marrow disorder, with the overproduction of aberrant light chains from clonal plasma cells that form beta pleated sheets that circulate to highly trafficked internal organs. The kidney is commonly affected in this condition and manifests disease with nephrotic syndrome and progressive renal failure. A number of studies have shown that the average time from the time of diagnosis to progression to ESRDis 13-35 months (3, 4), with a median survival time from the initiation of dialysis being 39.0 months (5).

Treatment of AL amyloidosis is aimed at ridding the bone marrow of the abnormal plasma cell clone in order to halt the production of light chains by these cells. Until the late 90's, the only treatment available for this disorder was oral melphalan and prednisone. At that time survival was noted to be 51% at 1 year, 16% at 5 years, and 4.7% at 10 years (6). Since then the arsenal of available therapeutics has expanded to include high dose melphalan with autologous stem cell transplant (HDM/SCT), lenalidomide (thalidomide analog), and proteosome inhibitors (bortezimib) (7). At this time there are also some promising trials of pomalidomide, which has been shown to have some success in the treatment of multiple myeloma. Currently, HDM/SCT seems to be the initial treatment of choice for patients that have good overall functional capacity. Of all of the available therapies at this time, HDM/SCT is the most likely to produce a durable complete hematologic response (CR) (7-9). CR is defined as the absence of monoclonal protein in serum and urine by immunofixation electrophoresis, normal serum free light chain ratio, and bone marrow biopsy with <5% plasma cells with no clonal predominance by immunohistochemistry. A partial response (PR) is defined as a greater than 50% reduction in the serum monoclonal protein (when measurable) (10). Recently, a new category was added to CR and PR: very good partial response (VGPR) is achieved when the difference between involved and uninvolved FLCs is less than 40 mg/L (11). One study showed that the median survival can exceed 10 years for patients achieving CR after HDM/SCT, compared with 50 months for those not achieving a CR. The survival in patients achieving VGPR is intermediate between CR and PR (11).

3.1. Kidney transplantation in AL amyloidosis

In a recent retrospective analysis of 25 patients with AL amyloidosis who underwent kidney transplantation in the UK, median graft survival was 5.8 years with a 5- and 10-year graft survival of 74% and 25%, respectively. No grafts failed from recurrent amyloidosis, despite its presence in 7 of the allografts at a median of 5.9 years after transplantation (12). The median survival after renal transplantation was 89.0 months (5).

Currently we recommend that patients should achieve CR, or at least a very good partial hematologic response (VGPR) to therapy that is durable for at least 9-12 months prior to pursuing kidney transplantation but more studies are required to determine the optimal timing of the renal transplant (13). Pinney *et al.* reported that there was no significant difference in renal allograft survival between patients who were in CR versus patients in PR. They did note, however, that patients who did not have a response (NR; No Response) to therapy prior to renal transplantation had significantly worsened graft survival (NR vs PR: 5.3 vs 8.9 yrs) (12).

A small retrospective study that specifically compared different therapies for plasma cell dyscrasias and the outcomes of allograft and patient survival (HDM/SCT pre-kidney transplantation, HDM- SCT post kidney transplantation, and various nonmyeloablative strategies), showed that overall survival was not different for the 3 groups, but that patients who underwent HDM/SCT post kidney transplantation did have a tendency towards more acute cellular rejections (14).

4. MONOCLONAL IMMUNOGLOBULIN DEPOSITION DISEASES

The clinical presentation of monoclonal immunoglobulin deposition diseases (MIDD) is similar to amyloidosis: it can be suspected in patients with proteinuria and a monoclonal protein in serum and/or urine. MIDD includes light ch ain deposition disease (LCDD), heavy chain deposition disease (HCDD) and light- and heavy-chain deposition disease (LHCDD). In LCDD the light chain fragments (more often kappa than lambda) form granular deposit in a variety of organs including kidney, heart, liver and GI tract without forming amyloid fibrils, and are Congo Red negative (37). Immunofluorescence microscopy is typically strongly positive for the monoclonal light chain. In the less frequent forms, HCDD and LHCDD, short (truncated) heavy chains or light and heavy monoclonal chains cause nonamyloid tissue deposition and biopsy tissue stains positive with anti-heavy chain antibodies on immunoflourescence.

The prognosis of LCDD without treatment is usually poor: the median survival is 18 months - 5 years from the time of diagnosis (38, 39) and the median survival rate of patients with LCDD on dialysis is only 4 years (40, 41). Without treatment all forms of MIDD tend to recur after renal transplant (41-47). Accumulating data in MIDD on chemotherapies used to treat AL amyloidosis or multiple myeloma and stem cell transplantation are promising (48-50) and we have increasing number of patients whose plasma cell dyscrasia is under control but they reach ESRD hence in the need of a new kidney (41, 48, 51).

4.1. Renal transplantation on monoclonal immunoglobulin deposition diseases

Given the uncertainty of outcomes, only a small number of renal transplants had been performed in MIDD patients and no large studies are available to date. Transplants that were done before currently used treatment options became available over the last 10-15 years had very different results than studies that looked at renal outcomes in patients who were successfully treated. Before treatment options were wildly available, LCDD recurrence was between 71% -86% after renal transplant, strongly suggesting that without treating the underlying hematologic malignancy renal transplantation should not be undertaken (41-47). This was illustrated in a retrospective review of seven patients with LCDD form the Mayo clinic who underwent renal transplantation and their recurrence rate was unacceptably high: the disease recurred after a median of 33.3. (range: 2 to 45) months in 5 of the 7 patients and 4 have died within 3-92 months after transplant. The overall median allograft survival was 37.3 months (vs 101.8 months in the general population). The median survival rate after recurrence was 3.6 years (range, 0.3 to 8.4 years). Only 1 patient was recurrence free after 13 years with normal renal allograft function (45).

However, similar to AL amyloidosis, kidney transplantation should be considered in MIDD patients who have achieved a hematologic complete response. In these patients disease free graft and patient survival was documented in several small studies although with less than 1-4 year follow up (48, 52, 53). Even if there is a recurrence of the hematologic disease, case reports suggest that recurrent LCDD after renal transplantation can be successfully treated with bortezomib rescue therapy (50, 54) or prevented by rituximab (55).

5. AA AMYLOIDOSIS

AA or secondary amyloidosis, is the result of a longstanding chronic inflammatory state that leads to the accumulation of the acute phase protein serum amyloid A (SAA) in various organs. Autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease, familial Mediterranean fever, chronic infection, and TRAPS syndrome have been implicated in the pathogenesis of this disease. In one series, the duration of symptomatic inflammatory disease before the diagnosis of amyloidosis was 17 years without significant difference amongst the various underlying disorders (15). AA amyloidosis presents with nephrotic syndrome and progressive renal failure. The time to ESRD after diagnosis is usually short: the median time from diagnosis to ESRD is 1.4 years (12).

There is subset of patients that have no identifiable cause even after extensive testing. In one retrospective study of 374 patients, up to 6% had no known identifiable cause for AA amyloidosis (15).

5.1. Kidney transplantation in AA amyloidosis

Prior to undergoing kidney transplantation it is vital to determine co-morbid conditions that would preclude transplantation (advanced heart involvement, etc) and the underlying inflammatory state that is causing the disease. The main focus after renal transplantation is to control the underlying inflammatory process to prevent recurrent amyloid deposition in the allograft. For example, colchicine therapy in patients with familial Mediterranean fever is imperative for good graft survival (16, 17). In one multicenter retrospective study of 59 patients who underwent kidney transplantation, the recurrence rate of renal amyloid was estimated at 14%. It was also noted that the 5- and 10-year patient survival was significantly lower for the AA amyloidosis patients than for the control group of 177 renal

transplant recipients (18) (82.5% vs. 94% at 5 years, and 61.7% vs. 83.4% at 10 years). Interestingly, it was noted that there was not statistically significant difference in the overall 5 and 10 year graft survival (sensored for death) (18). In another study that sought to determine an association between SAA levels and transplant outcomes, graft survival (noncensored for death) was 14.5 years in patients with a median SAA value of <10 mg/L, and 7.8 years in those with a median SAA of >10 mg/L (p = ns) (12). SAA is not routinely measured and followed throughout the lifespan of a transplant, but it may be an interesting avenue for further exploration.

6. HEREDITARY AMYLOIDOSIS

The hereditary amyloidoses are a group of diseases that generally result from single point mutation in a number of different proteins. They are divided into neuropathic (transthyretin) variants and non-neuropathic variants. They tend to be inherited in an autosomal dominant pattern with variable penetrance amongst those affected.

6.1. Hereditary transthyretin amyloidosis

Familial transthyretin amyloidosis, also known as familial hereditary polyneuropathy (FHP), is the result of a mutation in the transthyretin (TTR) protein. TTR is a structural protein that transports thyroxine and retinal binding protein (RBP)/vitamin A and is made predominantly by the liver, as well as the retina and choroid plexus (19). Over 100 mutations of aberrant TTR leading to amyloidosis (ATTRm) have been identified at this time. This disorder should not be confused with Systemic Senile Amyloidosis, which is the tendency of wild type TTR to become amyloidogenic and cause cardiomyopathy with increased prevalence in African Americans. ATTRm can present clinically with peripheral and autonomic neuropathy, cardiomyopathy, dysrhythmias, and in some cases nephropathy. The disease typically becomes apparent by the second to third decade of life, but this can be variable depending on the specific mutation. Kidney involvement is usually a late manifestation of the disease and tends to present as proteinuria with progressive renal dysfunction. In one cohort, time between detection of microalbuminuria and overt renal disease was 2 years (20).

Because the aberrant protein mainly comes from the liver, orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT) has been utilized as definitive therapy to prevent progression of end organ damage. There have been a number of combined kidney-liver transplants in patients with advanced kidney disease. In one series of six patients who underwent liver-kidney transplantation, none had evidence of recurrence of kidney disease 7 years post transplant 21, 22). The explanted livers from these patients can be utilized for domino transplantation in OLT candidates despite their production of aberrant TTR, because they are functionally and anatomically normal. It has been theorized that the recipient of the new liver will not live long enough to experience clinical manifestations of FHP due to its slow progression (23).

6.2. FIBRINOGEN A ALPHA AMYLOIDOSIS

Fibrinogen is a plasma glycoprotein synthesized by the liver and essential for fibrin clot formation (24). There have been six mutations within the c-terminus that have been identified and are known to cause nephrotic syndrome with progressive renal dysfunction (25). Previously this subtype of amyloidosis was considered to be limited to the kidneys, but one recent study identified amyloid in cardiac tissue and peripheral nerves (25).

Gilmore et al. followed 72 patients with biopsy proven renal fibrinogen A alpha amyloidosis and found that the median time from presentation to ESRD was 4.6 years, with 44 patients reaching ESRD (26). 10 of these patients underwent kidney transplantation with median follow up of 5.8 years. The estimated median graft survival was 6.7. yr (range 0.9 to 12.2) and three grafts failed because of recurrent amyloid after 5.8, 6.0, and 7.4 years. Because the aberrant protein is produced by the liver, it has now become more commonplace to consider preemptive liver transplant or combined liver-kidney transplantation, but this remains very controversial due to the higher post transplant mortality rate with OLT versus solitary kidney transplantation (27, 28). Stangou et al reported that in one study of 9 patients in the UK who received preemptive combined liverkidney transplant, 7 out of 9 patients were alive at the end of the follow up period (median 67 months) with 1 requiring RRT because of chronic allograft nephropathy, and 2 deaths from post-operative complications from liver transplantation (25, 28).

In another study of 51 patients, the median graft survival among patients with isolated kidney transplant was 7.3 years compared to 6.4 years in those who received combined liver-kidney transplants. Recurrent amyloid was identified in the renal allografts of seven patients, all of whom had isolated kidney transplants, after a median of

4.9 years. No patient with a combined liver kidney transplant developed amyloid in the new renal allograft (12).

6.3. Lysozyme amyloidosis

Lysozyme is a bacteriolytic enzyme that is synthesized in the GI tract by macrophages and hepatocytes. This subtype has been associated with a variety of gastrointestinal symptoms including abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, hepatic infiltration, GI bleed, malabsorption and weight loss; as well as sicca syndrome, lymphadenopathy and proteinuria (mostly subnephrotic) with the eventual progression to ESRD (29).

In one series of three patients with lysozyme amyloidosis, decline in kidney function was very slow, with the median time from diagnosis to ESRD of 10.6 years. All three received kidney transplants and had excellent graft function at 0.9., 2.9 and 6.2 years post transplant without evidence of amyloid recurrence in the allografts (12). In another case series of 16 patients, 5 reached ESRD, and 3 underwent kidney transplantation. None of them had recurrence of amyloidosis in their grafts at 0.8, 1.8 and 6.6 years after transplantation (29). At this time there are no documented cases of graft failure from lyzozyme amyloidosis in the literature.

6.4. Apo A1 amyloidosis

Apo A1 is a major constituent of HDL and is secreted by the liver and intestines (30). At this time, 14 different mutations have been shown to cause clinical amyloidosis (25). The clinical presentation is widely variable and can involve the liver, kidney, heart, skin, testes, larynx and peripheral nerves (31). The pattern of renal injury is very variable depending on the specific mutation. In addition to nephrotic syndrome and progressive renal dysfunction, a small number of cases have been shown to mainly involve the tubulointerstitium leading to urinary concentrating difficulties, polyuria and only minimal tubular proteinuria. Progression of renal impairment is often very slow.

In one series of 10 patients who underwent kidney transplantation for Apo A1 amyloidosis, 7 out of 10 patients had functioning grafts 9 years post transplant. The authors also noted that the case for combined liver-kidney transplant was weak without evidence of widespread liver disease given the favorable outcomes of isolated kidney transplantation (30).

6.5. Apo A2 amyloidosis

Similar to Apo AI, Apo AII is also a large component of the HDL protein that is synthesized in the liver and intestine. There have only been a few reports in the literature that focus on renal involvement and they have noted that the pattern of kidney injury results in proteinuria and eventual ESRD (32). In one case report, the patient developed ESRD at age 45 and underwent successful cadaveric kidney transplantation with stable graft function over the 9 year follow up period (33).

6.6. Apo AIV amyloidosis

To date there is only one reported case of renal Apo AIV amyloidosis in the literature. Similar to some variants of the Apo AI subtype, renal involvement was confined to the medulla, without evidence of significant proteinuria (34). In our center, we currently have two patients with a similar presentation, who were diagnosed by kidney biopsy during evaluation for CKD of unknown origin. At this time there have not been any reports in the literature of biopsy proven renal Apo AIV amyloidosis patients that have gone on to receive kidney transplants. It is worth considering that this variant may be underdiagnosed because it is typically limited to the renal medulla, which is often not sampled during renal biopsy.

6.7. Gelsolin amyloidosis

Gelsolin amyloidosis, also known as Finnish type amyloidosis, is a rare subtype of hereditary amyloidosis. Patients typically present with lattice corneal dystrophy, progressive neuropathies including involvement of the cranial nerves, and development of cutix laxa (35). Renal involvement has been documented, but it is rare. It can manifest as nephrotic or subnephrotic range proteinuria with progressive renal dysfunction. There has been one case report in the literature of a patient in Iran who underwent successful kidney transplantation for the treatment of ESRD associated gelsolin amyloidosis. At 6 year followup he had no evidence of recurrence of proteinuria or renal dysfunction (36).

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors acknowledge the participation of colleagues in the Amyloid Treatment and Research Program at Boston University School of Medicine and the Stem Cell Transplant Program at Boston Medical Center, as well as other clinical colleagues involved in the evaluation and management of the patients with amyloidosis.

8. REFERENCES

- L. M. Dember: Amyloidosis-associated kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol, 17(12), 3458-71 (2006) DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2006050460
- F. O. Belzer, B. S. Ashby, P. F. Gulyassy and M. Powell: Successful seventeenhour preservation and transplantation of human-cadaver kidney. N Engl J Med, 278(11), 608-10 (1968) DOI: 10.1056/NEJM196803142781108
- M. A. Gertz, N. Leung, M. Q. Lacy, A. Dispenzieri, S. R. Zeldenrust, S. R. Hayman, F. K. Buadi, D. Dingli, P. R. Greipp, S. K. Kumar, J. A. Lust, S. V. Rajkumar, S. J. Russell and T. E. Witzig: Clinical outcome of immunoglobulin light chain amyloidosis affecting the kidney. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 24(10), 3132-7 (2009) DOI: 10.1002/adt/afe201

DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfp201

- F. Bridoux, P. Ronco, J. Gillmore and J. P. Fermand: Renal transplantation in light chain amyloidosis: coming out of the cupboard. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 26(6), 1766-8 (2011) DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfr191
- J. H. Pinney, H. J. Lachmann, L. Bansi, A. D. Wechalekar, J. A. Gilbertson, D. Rowczenio, P. T. Sattianayagam, S. D. Gibbs, E. Orlandi, N. L. Wassef, A. R. Bradwell, P. N. Hawkins and J. D. Gillmore: Outcome in renal Al amyloidosis after chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol, 29(6), 674-81 (2011) DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2010.30.5235
- R. A. Kyle, M. A. Gertz, P. R. Greipp, T. E. Witzig, J. A. Lust, M. Q. Lacy and T. M. Therneau: Long-term survival (10 years or more) in 30 patients with primary amyloidosis. Blood, 93(3), 1062-6 (1999)
- L. M. Dember: Modern treatment of amyloidosis: unresolved questions. J Am Soc Nephrol, 20(3), 469-72 (2009) DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2008070793
- 8. V. Sanchorawala, M. Skinner, K. Quillen,

K. T. Finn, G. Doros and D. C. Seldin: Long-term outcome of patients with AL amyloidosis treated with high-dose melphalan and stem-cell transplantation. Blood, 110(10), 3561-3 (2007) DOI: 10.1182/blood-2007-07-099481

- M. T. Cibeira, V. Sanchorawala, D. C. Seldin, K. Quillen, J. L. Berk, L. M. Dember, A. Segal, F. Ruberg, H. Meier-Ewert, N. T. Andrea, J. M. Sloan, K. T. Finn, G. Doros, J. Blade and M. Skinner: Outcome of AL amyloidosis after highdose melphalan and autologous stem cell transplantation: long-term results in a series of 421 patients. Blood, 118(16), 4346-52 (2011) DOI: 10.1182/blood-2011-01-330738
- M. A. Gertz, R. Comenzo, R. H. Falk, J. P. Fermand, B. P. Hazenberg, P. N. Hawkins, G. Merlini, P. Moreau, P. Ronco, V. Sanchorawala, O. Sezer, A. Solomon and G. Grateau: Definition of organ involvement and treatment response in immunoglobulin light chain amyloidosis (AL): a consensus opinion from the 10th International Symposium on Amyloid and Amyloidosis, Tours, France, 18-22 April 2004. Am J Hematol, 79(4), 319-28 (2005)

DOI: 10.1002/ajh.20381

- G. Palladini, A. Dispenzieri, M. A. Gertz, S. Kumar, A. Wechalekar, P. N. Hawkins, S. Schonland, U. Hegenbart, R. Comenzo, E. Kastritis, M. A. Dimopoulos, A. Jaccard, C. Klersy and G. Merlini: New criteria for response to treatment in immunoglobulin light chain amyloidosis based on free light chain measurement and cardiac biomarkers: impact on survival outcomes. J Clin Oncol, 30(36), 4541-9)
- J. H. Pinney, H. J. Lachmann, P. T. Sattianayagam, S. D. Gibbs, A. D. Wechalekar, C. P. Venner, C. J. Whelan, J. A. Gilbertson, D. Rowczenio, P. N. Hawkins and J. D. Gillmore: Renal transplantation in systemic amyloidosisimportance of amyloid fibril type and precursor protein abundance. Am J

Transplant, 13(2), 433-41 (2013) DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2012.04326.x

- L. F. Casserly, A. Fadia, V. Sanchorawala, D. C. Seldin, D. G. Wright, M. Skinner and L. M. Dember: High-dose intravenous melphalan with autologous stem cell transplantation in AL amyloidosisassociated end-stage renal disease. Kidney Int, 63(3), 1051-7 (2003) DOI: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00813.x
- S. M. Herrmann, M. A. Gertz, M. D. Stegall, A. Dispenzieri, F. C. Cosio, S. Kumar, M. Q. Lacy, P. G. Dean, M. Prieto, S. R. Zeldenrust, F. K. Buadi, S. J. Russell, S. L. Nyberg, S. R. Hayman, D. Dingli, F. C. Fervenza and N. Leung: Long-term outcomes of patients with light chain amyloidosis (AL) after renal transplantation with or without stem cell transplantation. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 26(6), 2032-6 (2011) DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfr067
- H. J. Lachmann, H. J. Goodman, J. A. Gilbertson, J. R. Gallimore, C. A. Sabin, J. D. Gillmore and P. N. Hawkins: Natural history and outcome in systemic AA amyloidosis. N Engl J Med, 356(23), 2361-71 (2007) DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa070265
- E. T. Jacob, N. Bar-Nathan, Z. Shapira and J. Gafni: Renal transplantation in the amyloidosis of familial Mediterranean fever. Experience in ten cases. Arch Intern Med, 139(10), 1135-8 (1979) DOI: 10.1001/archinte.1979.03630470047016
- E. Erdem, A. Karatas, C. Kaya, M. Dilek, Y. K. Yakupoglu, N. Arik and T. Akpolat: Renal transplantation in patients with familial Mediterranean fever. Clin Rheumatol, 31(8), 1183-6 (2012) DOI: 10.1007/s10067-012-1992-6
- T. Kofman, P. Grimbert, F. Canoui-Poitrine, J. Zuber, V. Garrigue, C. Mousson, L. Frimat, N. Kamar, G. Couvrat, N. Bouvier, L. Albano, A. Le Thuaut, E. Pillebout, G. Choukroun, L. Couzi, J. Peltier, C. Mariat, M. Delahousse, M. Buchler, P. Le Pogamp,

F. Bridoux, C. Pouteil-Noble, P. Lang and V. Audard: Renal transplantation in patients with AA amyloidosis nephropathy: results from a French multicenter study. Am J Transplant, 11(11), 2423-31 (2011) DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03620.x

- M. D. Benson: Liver transplantation and transthyretin amyloidosis. Muscle Nerve, 47(2), 157-62 (2013) DOI: 10.1002/mus.23521
- L. Lobato, I. Beirao, M. Silva, F. Bravo, F. Silvestre, S. Guimaraes, A. Sousa, L. H. Noel and J. Sequeiros: Familial ATTR amyloidosis: microalbuminuria as a predictor of symptomatic disease and clinical nephropathy. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 18(3), 532-8 (2003) DOI: 10.1093/ndt/18.3.532
- L. Lobato and A. Rocha: Transthyretin amyloidosis and the kidney. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 7(8), 1337-46 (2012) DOI: 10.2215/CJN.08720811
- L. Lobato, I. Beirao, R. Seca, H. Pessegueiro, M. J. Rocha, J. Queiroz, M. Gomes, A. C. Henriques, M. Teixeira and R. Almeida: Combined liver-kidney transplantation in familial amyloidotic polyneuropathy TTR V30M: nephrological assessment. Amyloid, 18 Suppl 1, 190-2 (2011)

DOI: 10.3109/13506129.2011.574354071

- D. Azoulay, C. Salloum, D. Samuel and V. Plante-Bordeneuve: Operative risks of domino liver transplantation for the FAP liver donor and the FAP liver recipient. Amyloid, 19 Suppl 1, 73-4 (2012) DOI: 10.3109/13506129.2012.673186
- M. Haidinger, J. Werzowa, R. Kain, M. Antlanger, M. Hecking, S. Pfaffenberger, J. Mascherbauer, T. Gremmel, J. A. Gilbertson, D. Rowczenio, T. Weichhart, C. Kopecky, W. H. Horl, P. N. Hawkins and M. D. Saemann: Hereditary amyloidosis caused by R554L fibrinogen Aalpha-chain mutation in a Spanish family and review of the literature. Amyloid, 20(2), 72-9 (2013) DOI: 10.3109/13506129.2013.781998

- A. J. Stangou, L. Lobato, S. Zeldenrust, M. Rela, B. Portmann, R. P. Linke, I. Conceicao, G. Otto, H. Wilczek, O. Suhr, D. Azoulay, G. Grateau, M. Picken, J. O'Grady, N. Heaton, B. G. Ericzon and M. D. Benson: Solid organ transplantation for non-TTR hereditary amyloidosis: report from the 1st International Workshop on the Hereditary Renal Amyloidoses. Amyloid, 19 Suppl 1, 81-4 (2012) DOI: 10.3109/13506129.2012.668503
- J. D. Gillmore, H. J. Lachmann, D. Rowczenio, J. A. Gilbertson, C. H. Zeng, Z. H. Liu, L. S. Li, A. Wechalekar and P. N. Hawkins: Diagnosis, pathogenesis, treatment, and prognosis of hereditary fibrinogen A alpha-chain amyloidosis. J Am Soc Nephrol, 20(2), 444-51 (2009) DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2008060614
- J. D. Gillmore, H. J. Lachmann, A. Wechalekar and P. N. Hawkins: Hereditary fibrinogen A alpha-chain amyloidosis: clinical phenotype and role of liver transplantation. Blood, 115(21), 4313; author reply 4314-5 (2010)
- A. J. Stangou, N. R. Banner, B. M. Hendry, M. Rela, B. Portmann, J. Wendon, M. Monaghan, P. Maccarthy, M. Buxton-Thomas, C. J. Mathias, J. J. Liepnieks, J. O'Grady, N. D. Heaton and M. D. Benson: Hereditary fibrinogen A alpha-chain amyloidosis: phenotypic characterization of a systemic disease and the role of liver transplantation. Blood, 115(15), 2998-3007 (2010) DOI: 10.1182/blood-2009-06-223792
- P. T. Sattianayagam, S. D. Gibbs, D. Rowczenio, J. H. Pinney, A. D. Wechalekar, J. A. Gilbertson, P. N. Hawkins, H. J. Lachmann and J. D. Gillmore: Hereditary lysozyme amyloidosis -- phenotypic heterogeneity and the role of solid organ transplantation. J Intern Med, 272(1), 36-44 (2012) DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2796.2011.02470.x

 J. D. Gillmore, A. J. Stangou, H. J. Lachmann, H. J. Goodman, A. D. Wechalekar, J. Acheson, G. A. Tennent, A. Bybee, J. Gilbertson, D. Rowczenio, J. O'Grady, N. D. Heaton, M. B. Pepys and P. N. Hawkins: Organ transplantation in hereditary apolipoprotein AI amyloidosis. Am J Transplant, 6(10), 2342-7 (2006) DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2006.01507.x

31. G. Gregorini, C. Izzi, L. Obici, R. Tardanico, C. Rocken, B. F. Viola, M. Capistrano, S. Donadei, L. Biasi, T. Scalvini, G. Merlini and F. Scolari: Renal apolipoprotein A-I amyloidosis: a rare and usually ignored cause of hereditary tubulointerstitial nephritis. J Am Soc Nephrol, 16(12), 3680-6 (2005)

DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2005040382

32. M. Yazaki, J. J. Liepnieks, M. S. Barats, A. H. Cohen and M. D. Benson: Hereditary systemic amyloidosis associated with a new apolipoprotein All stop codon mutation Stop78Arg. Kidney Int, 64(1), 11-6 (2003)

DOI: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00047.x

33. N. Magy, J. J. Liepnieks, M. Yazaki, B. Kluve-Beckerman and M. D. Benson: Renal transplantation for apolipoprotein All amyloidosis. Amyloid, 10(4), 224-8 (2003)

DOI: 10.3109/13506120309041739

- 34. S. Sethi, J. D. Theis, S. M. Shiller, C. C. Nast, D. Harrison, H. G. Rennke, J. A. Vrana and A. Dogan: Medullary amyloidosis associated with apolipoprotein A-IV deposition. Kidney Int, 81(2), 201-6 (2012) DOI: 10.1038/ki.2011.316
- 35. S. Sethi, J. D. Theis, P. Quint, W. Maierhofer, P. J. Kurtin, A. Dogan and E. W. Highsmith, Jr.: Renal amyloidosis associated with a novel sequence variant of gelsolin. Am J Kidney Dis, 61(1), 161-6 (2013)

DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2012.07.016

36. M. M. Shoja, M. R. Ardalan, R. S. Tubbs and S. Kiuru-Enari: Outcome of renal transplant in hereditary gelsolin amyloidosis. Am J Med Sci, 337(5), 370-2 (2009)

DOI: 10.1097/MAJ.0b013e3181a4199c

- 37. J. Lin, G. S. Markowitz, A. M. Valeri, N. Kambham, W. H. Sherman, G. B. Appel and V. D. D'Agati: Renal monoclonal immunoglobulin deposition disease: the disease spectrum. J Am Soc Nephrol, 12(7), 1482-92 (2001)
- 38. C. Pozzi, M. D'Amico, G. B. Fogazzi, S. Curioni, F. Ferrario, S. Pasquali, G. Quattrocchio, C. Rollino, S. Segagni and F. Locatelli: Light chain deposition disease with renal involvement: clinical characteristics and prognostic factors. Am J Kidney Dis, 42(6), 1154-63 (2003) DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2003.08.040
- 39. J. Buxbaum and G. Gallo: Nonamyloidotic monoclonal immunoglobulin deposition disease. Light-chain, heavy-chain, and light- and heavy-chain deposition diseases. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am, 13(6), 1235-48 (1999) DOI: 10.1016/S0889-8588(05)70123-4
- J. J. Montseny, D. Kleinknecht, A. Meyrier, 40. P. Vanhille, P. Simon, A. Pruna and D. Eladari: Long-term outcome according to renal histological lesions in 118 patients with monoclonal gammopathies. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 13(6), 1438-45 (1998) DOI: 10.1093/ndt/13.6.1438
- D. J. Tsakiris, V. S. Stel, P. Finne, 41. E. Fraser, J. Heaf, J. de Meester, S. Schmaldienst, F. Dekker, E. Verrina and K. J. Jager: Incidence and outcome of patients starting renal replacement therapy for end-stage renal disease due to multiple myeloma or light-chain deposit disease: an ERA-EDTA Registry study. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 25(4), 1200-6
- 42. A. M. Herzenberg, M. Kiaii and A. B. Magil: Heavy chain deposition disease: recurrence in a renal transplant and report of IgG(2) subtype. Am J Kidney Dis, 35(5), E25 (2000)
- B. Alchi, S. Nishi, S. Iguchi, M. Shimotori, 43. M. Sakatsume, M. Ueno, I. Narita, K. Saito, K. Takahashi and F. Gejyo: Recurrent light and heavy chain deposition disease

after renal transplantation. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 20(7), 1487-91 (2005) DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfh822

- C. E. Alpers, T. L. Marchioro and R. J. Johnson: Monoclonal immunoglobulin deposition disease in a renal allograft: probable recurrent disease in a patient without myeloma. Am J Kidney Dis, 13(5), 418-23 (1989)
- N. Leung, D. J. Lager, M. A. Gertz, K. Wilson, S. Kanakiriya and F. C. Fervenza: Long-term outcome of renal transplantation in light-chain deposition disease. Am J Kidney Dis, 43(1), 147-53 (2004)

DOI: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2003.09.020

 A. K. Short, D. J. O'Donoghue, H. N. Riad, C. D. Short and I. S. Roberts: Recurrence of light chain nephropathy in a renal allograft. A case report and review of the literature. Am J Nephrol, 21(3), 237-40 (2001)

DOI: 10.1159/000046254

- 47. T. Larsen, A. Hammer and K. A. Jorgensen: Recurrence of light-chain deposition disease after renal transplantation. Scand J Urol Nephrol, 42(2), 187-8 (2008)
- E. C. Lorenz, M. A. Gertz, F. C. Fervenza, A. Dispenzieri, M. Q. Lacy, S. R. Hayman, D. A. Gastineau and N. Leung: Longterm outcome of autologous stem cell transplantation in light chain deposition disease. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 23(6), 2052-7 (2008) DOI: 10.1093/ndt/gfm918
- 49. P. W. Sanders: Management of paraproteinemic renal disease. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens, 14(2), 97-103 (2005) DOI: 10.1097/00041552-200503000-00003
- S. H. Nasr, A. M. Valeri, L. D. Cornell, M. E. Fidler, S. Sethi, V. D. D'Agati and N. Leung: Renal monoclonal immunoglobulin deposition disease: a report of 64 patients from a single institution. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 7(2), 231-9
- 51. J. Gerth, M. Busch, U. Ott, H. J. Groene and G. Wolf: Evolution of light chain

deposition disease over 8 years. Clin Nephrol, 72(5), 397-401 (2009) DOI: 10.5414/CNP72397

- 52. P. G. Gerlag, R. A. Koene and J. H. Berden: Renal transplantation in light chain nephropathy: case report and review of the literature. Clin Nephrol, 25(2), 101-4 (1986)
- H. Hassoun, C. Flombaum, V. D. D'Agati, B. T. Rafferty, A. Cohen, V. M. Klimek, A. Boruchov, T. Kewalramani, L. Reich, S. D. Nimer and R. L. Comenzo: High-dose melphalan and auto-SCT in patients with monoclonal Ig deposition disease. Bone Marrow Transplant, 42(6), 405-12 (2008) DOI: 10.1038/bmt.2008.179
- Z. Kaposztas, B. D. Kahan, S. M. Katz, C. T. Van Buren and L. Cherem: Bortezomib successfully reverses early recurrence of light-chain deposition disease in a renal allograft: a case report. Transplant Proc, 41(10), 4407-10 (2009) DOI: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2009.10.005
- 55. D. R. Kuypers, E. Lerut, K. Claes, P. Evenepoel and Y. Vanrenterghem: Recurrence of light chain deposit disease after renal allograft transplantation: potential role of rituximab? Transpl Int, 20(4), 381-5 (2007)

Key Words: Renal transplant, Amyloidosis, TTR, AL amyloid, AA amyloid, Familial Amyloidosis, Review

Send correspondence to: Andrea Havasi, Boston University Medical Center, 650 Albany Str, Boston, Ma, 02118, Tel: 618-63807330, Fax: 617-638-7326, E-mail: ahavasi@bu.edu